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CX-0877C; CX-0880C; CX-0889; CX-0894; CX-0895; CX-0901; CX-1015; CX-1170;

CX-1202; CX-1204; CX-1205; CX-1207; CX-1216; CX-1265; CX-1284; CX-1320; CX-1322;

CX-1336; CX-1364; CX-1367; CX-1368; CX-1379; CX-1380; CX-1412; CX-1420; CX-1447;

CX-1465; CX-1546; CX-1563; CX-1817; CX-1840; CX-1881; CX-1882; CX-1898C; CX-1899;

CX-1916; CX-1917; CX-1922; CX-1923; CX-1933; CX-1939; CX-1942; CX-1944; CX-1945;

CX-1946; CX-1947; CX-1948; CX-1949; CX-1950; CX-1951; CX-1953C; CX-1954C;

CX-1955C; CX-1956C; CX-1957C; CX-1958C; CX-1960; CX-2047; CX-2054; JX-0015;

JX-0016; JX-0017; JX-0018; JX-0019; JX-0020; JX-0021; JX-0022; JX-0023; JX-0024; JX-0025; 

JX-0026; JX-0027; JX-0028; JX-0029; JX-0030; JX-0031; JX-0032; JX-0034; JX-0035; JX-0036; 

JX-0037; JX-0038; JX-0039; JX-0040C; JX-0048C; JX-0049C; JX-0051; JX-0052; JX-0054; 

JX-0055; JX-0056; JX-0057; JX-0060C; JX-0067; JX-0068; JX-0069; JX-0070; JX-0071; 

JX-0072; JX-0073; JX-0074; JX-0076; JX-0079; JX-0081; JX-0082; JX-0083; JX-0084;  

JX-0085; JX-0086; JX-0099C; JX-0102C; JX-0112C; JX-0115C; RX-0312; RX-0315; 

RX-0316; RX-0324; RX-0325; RX-0370C; RX-0430C; RX-0431C; RX-0432C; RX-0433C; 

RX-0434C; RX-0435C; RX-0436C; RX-0437C; RX-0438C; RX-0439C; RX-0440C; RX-0441C; 

RX-0442C; RX-0443C; RX-0444C; RX-0445C; RX-0446C; RX-0447C; RX-0448C; 

RX-0449C; RX-0450C; RX-0451; RX-0452; RX-0453; RX-0454; RX-0455C; RX-0456C; 

RX-0457C; RX-0458; RX-0459; RX-0460; RX-0461; RX-0486; RX-0630; RX-0637; 

RX-0639; RX-0640; RX-0662; RX-0668. 
A. The Public Health and Welfare

Philip Morris, the maker of the accused IQOS devices, argues that remedial orders barring 

entry of imported IQOS products would adversely impact the public health and welfare.  Philip 

Morris claims that IQOS helps smokers of traditional combustion cigarettes “move away, and stay 

away,” from combustion cigarette smoking.  RIB at 58.  Philip Morris notes the FDA has found 
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that “a measurable and substantial reduction in morbidity or mortality among individual 

tobacco users is reasonably likely in subsequent studies” examining the effects of IQOS use.  

RIB at 69 (citing JX-0034  at -2335-36).  Philip Morris claims an exclusion order amounts to 

“depriving current and future users of the health benefits of IQOS.”  See RIB at 71.  

Reynolds and Staff disagree. 

I find the evidence overwhelmingly shows that excluding the IQOS products will not 

“deprive the public of products necessary for some important health or welfare need.”  Cf. 

Spansion, 629 F.3d at 1360.  As described below, this conclusion is based on scientifically 

reliable information from expert and independent government authorities, including the FDA and 

the U.S. Surgeon General. 

1. Tobacco use harms the public health and welfare

IQOS is a tobacco product regulated by the FDA.  JX-0018 at 1, 3.  A user inserts a 

HeatStick into the IQOS device.  JX-0034 at 16.  The HeatStick contains a tobacco plug made 

from ground tobacco powder.  Id.  The IQOS device heats the tobacco plug and produces an aerosol 

that the user inhales.  Id.  The FDA has reviewed extensive data about the IQOS product, its uses, 

and its effects.  At the conclusion of that review, the FDA reiterated, in unequivocal terms, 

“All tobacco products are potentially harmful and addictive.”  JX-0018 at 2.  It made no exception 

to that statement for IQOS.  The FDA specifically stated that, although IQOS products 

are permitted for sale in the United States, the FDA has not determined “these products are 

safe or ‘FDA approved.’”  Id. 

The body of evidence demonstrating harm from tobacco use is overwhelming.  The 

Surgeon General warns, “Tobacco smoke contains a deadly mix of more than 7,000 

chemicals; hundreds are harmful, and about 70 cause cancer.”  RX-0315.8; CX-1294 at 1.  One 

out of every 
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three cancer deaths in the United States is linked to cigarette smoking.  RX-0315.12.  Smoking 

is the number one cause of lung cancer.  Id.  Tobacco smoke also causes cancer of the voice 

box, mouth and throat, esophagus, pancreas, bladder, stomach, colon and rectum, liver, 

cervix, and kidney, as well as acute myeloid leukemia.  Id.  Smoking harms “nearly every organ 

of the body.” Id.  Smoking is the leading cause of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

(“COPD”), and smoking increases the risk of stroke.  RX-0315.10-11.  Tobacco smoke and 

nicotine are harmful to reproductive health and are linked to pregnancy complications, preterm 

birth, low birth weight, some birth defects, decreased fertility in both women and men, 

and erectile dysfunction. RX-0315.13; CX-1284.   

Tobacco smoking is the leading cause of preventable disease and death in the United States. 

RX-0315.5.  Sixteen million Americans live with a serious disease caused by smoking.  Id.  But 

harms from tobacco are not equally distributed across society.  RX-0315.5.  Cigarette 

smoking remains highest among people with mental health conditions; people of low 

socioeconomic status; people without health insurance; Medicaid enrollees; lesbian, gay, 

bisexual, and transgender adults; people with disabilities or limitations; and American Indians 

and Alaska Natives.  Id.; see also JX-0057 at 2–5, 15–17, 22–23 (similar inequities in Great 

Britain).  Disadvantaged people are overrepresented in the 480,000 Americans who die from 

smoking each year.  RX-0315.5.  Smoking-related illness costs the national economy $300 

billion each year.  Id. 
2. The FDA found IQOS exposes users to carcinogens and is expected to

cause them harm

Philip Morris represented to this tribunal that the IQOS system heats tobacco to release 

nicotine “without combusting the tobacco and exposing the consumer to the dangerous 

carcinogens and harmful chemicals created by combustion.”  RIB at 2.  This statement is at best 
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extremely misleading.  The FDA unequivocally stated “the use of the IQOS system clearly 

still exposes users to HPHCs [harmful and potentially harmful constituents], and would be 

expected to cause harm.”  JX-0034 at 44.  Many of the same dangerous carcinogens and 

harmful chemicals created by full tobacco combustion are also created by heating tobacco 

in the IQOS device. According to Philip Morris’s own testing, aerosols inhaled from the IQOS 

system contain known and potential carcinogens that are equivalent to about 18% of the 

concentration of such chemicals in the smoke of a combustion cigarette.  JX-0034 at 24–25.  

The IQOS aerosol also has four possible or probable human carcinogens and numerous other 

chemicals “of toxicological concern” not found in typical combustion cigarette smoke.  Id.  

The FDA found that “consuming 10 Heatsticks exposes users to levels of carcinogenic and 

reproductive toxicant HPHCs [harmful and potentially harmful constituents], acetaldehyde, 

acetamide, acrylamide, ammonia, catechol, formaldehyde, mercury, and propylene oxide that 

are comparable to smoking 1-3 cigarettes.”  Id. at 42 (emphasis added).   

It is true the FDA has found that “the available scientific evidence shows that the 

IQOS system produces lower concentrations of many harmful and potentially harmful 

constituents (HPHCs) compared to cigarette smoke.”  JX-0034 at 9.  But carcinogens and 

other harmful constituents are still present; it just takes more puffs to inhale the same dangerous 

quantities found in combustion cigarette smoke.  Id. at 42.   

And then there is nicotine, the highly addictive chemical in tobacco.  CX-1284.  While 

Philip Morris managed to reduce the overall concentration of dangerous chemicals in the 

IQOS aerosol, it ensured that systemic nicotine exposure—the nicotine received by the body

—from IQOS remains at addictive levels similar to those produced by combusted cigarettes.  

JX-0034 at 52, 54.  Another addictive compound in the IQOS aerosol, anabasine, is 26-33% 

higher in IQOS 
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aerosols than in the combustion cigarette smoke when normalized by nicotine concentration.  

Id.; RX-0486.2.  The FDA found the levels of nicotine in the IQOS product will “sustain 

addiction in nicotine-dependent populations and, in non-users, can have a similar risk of 

initiation and developing addiction as combusted cigarettes.”  JX-0034 at 41.  “A similar risk of 

initiation” means that IQOS presents the same risk as traditional cigarettes for inducing non-

smokers to start an addictive, harmful, and potentially deadly tobacco habit.  After reviewing 

the addiction evidence, the FDA found “no support for a general claim about reduced risk of 

harm” connected to IQOS use.  Id.   

According to the FDA, “nicotine can change the way the brain works, causing cravings 

for more of it.”  CX-1284 at 2.  If pregnant women use tobacco products, nicotine can cross 

the placenta and result in premature labor; low birth weight; respiratory failure at birth; and 

even sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS).  Id.  The FDA found that nicotine from IQOS 

poses the same risks to the fetus as nicotine from traditional cigarettes.  JX-0034 at 42.  

Nicotine exposure during adolescence can disrupt normal brain development and may have long-

lasting effects, such as increased impulsivity and mood disorders.  CX-1284 at 2.  The FDA 

found that nicotine from IQOS “may pose potentially negative effects on the developing brain in 

youth.”  JX-0034 at 42, 44.  Because of nicotine’s powerfully addictive nature and profound 

effects on the developing brain, the FDA and the Surgeon General both unequivocally state that 

“no tobacco products are safe for youth to use.”  CX-1284 at 2; RX-0315.16.  That includes 

IQOS. 
3. The FDA did not find IQOS would provide a potential benefit to the

population as a whole

Philip Morris points out that, due to the lower levels of harmful chemicals in IQOS 

aerosols, the FDA predicted that “a measurable and substantial reduction in morbidity or mortality 



107 

PUBLIC VERSION

among individual tobacco users is reasonably likely in subsequent studies.”  RIB at 69 

(quoting JX-0034).  But the FDA stated multiple times in its review that “the benefits of reducing 

exposure to harmful and potentially harmful chemicals require complete cessation of combusted 

cigarette smoking.”  See, e.g., JX-0034 at 13 (emphasis added).  Unfortunately, that is not how 

most people use IQOS.  According to Philip Morris’s own data, “dual use with combusted 

cigarettes is the predominant pattern of IQOS use,” with only 5.8% of IQOS users in the United 

States completely switching from combustion cigarettes.  Id. at 60, 62.  In fact, the only witness 

who testified in this investigation about personally using the IQOS system admitted that he still 

smokes combustion cigarettes.  Hrg. Tr. 1262:15–24.  Thus, while an “individual tobacco 

user[ ]” may benefit from transitioning completely to IQOS, the FDA concluded that the 

findings of prevalent dual use “do not provide strong support for the potential benefit to the 

population as a whole.”  Id. at 60. 

The FDA also pointed out that there is not necessarily a linear relationship between reduced 

exposure to harmful chemicals and reduced harm to IQOS users.  For example, while lung cancer 

and COPD generally have linear dose-response relationships with smoking, cardiovascular disease 

has a non-linear relationship with smoking.  JX-0034 at 41.  Even low levels of exposure to 

tobacco, such as a few cigarettes per day, occasional smoking, or exposure to secondhand tobacco 

smoke are sufficient to substantially increase risk of cardiac events.  Id.  Thus, while a reduction 

in smoking may decrease risk of some diseases, it may not decrease risk of other tobacco-related 

diseases.  Id. 
4. Philip Morris has marketed IQOS to youth in contravention of its

own policies and FDA restrictions

Philip Morris avers in this investigation, as it did to the FDA, that “IQOS is intended to 

move a smoker away from [combustion cigarettes] to a less harmful means of enjoying tobacco.” 
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RIB at 81.  But the full record evidence tells another story.  “Tobacco companies make their money 

by selling tobacco.”  JX-0057 at 188.  Companies like those in this investigation recognize 

that “disruptive technology . . . should be harnessed to protect the core business of selling 

tobacco, exploited to expand tobacco markets or developed as an opportunity to make nicotine 

products attractive to non-smokers.”  Id.  As researchers at Stanford University bluntly put it, 

“if [Philip Morris] were serious about achieving a ‘smoke-free world,’ it would halt its aggressive 

worldwide marketing of Marlboro, and its other major tobacco brands, and also curtail its 

generously funded political lobbying efforts to suppress governmental actions to protect public 

health.”  CX-1412 at 9. 

There is evidence that Philip Morris intends to use IQOS to addict new tobacco users 

and expand its market, not just transition existing smokers.  The majority of smokers are 

between the ages of 30 and 60 with lesser prevalence among other age groups.  CX-1412 at 7.  

According to researchers at Stanford University, if Philip Morris intended to reach an audience 

of middle-aged smokers, its marketing message “would be delivered by a middle-age smoker 

describing how IQOS helped them with their cigarette smoking addiction.”  Id.  Instead, 

“IQOS advertisements are dominated by chic, attractive young models, especially females, in 

fashionable dress and elegant poses.”  Id.  Also, according to the Stanford researchers, the 

marketing channels favored by the 30- to 60-year old demographic are printed magazines and 

newspapers (or their digital equivalents), television, and radio.  Id. at 8.  But instead of those 

channels, Philip Morris entered into a $6.5 million agreement with Vice Media, which 

describes itself as the “Fast growing, #1 youth media company in the world.”  Id. at 9.  IQOS 

marketing is most heavily present in social media channels such as Instagram, which have a 

strong youth bias.  Id.  An internal Philip Morris document gives the following example of an 

Instagram post that follows IQOS brand guidelines: 
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“Our photo shows twenty-something friends hitting the town with the city lights at their 

backs” with the caption “Bright lights, big city…and your #iQOS, #nyc.”  Id. at 67–68.   

Just two months after the FDA imposed “stringent restrictions” on marketing IQOS to 

young people “via websites and through social media platforms,” Philip Morris was caught 

paying young people to market IQOS on Instagram.  See JX-0018 at 3 (announcing FDA 

restrictions on youth marketing); CX-1015 (Reuters report).  Reuters investigative reporters 

found Philip Morris paid a 21-year-old Instagram influencer to post about IQOS, in violation 

of its stated company policy that prohibits marketing tobacco products with “models who are or 

appear to be under the age of 25.”  CX-1015.  The influencer plugged IQOS while posing in 

“seductive photos of herself drinking wine, swimming and posing with little clothing in 

luxurious settings.”  Id.  And that influencer was not the only young person hired by Philip 

Morris to push IQOS.  Reuters found Philip Morris had paid young social media influencers in 

Japan, Italy, Switzerland, Russian, and Romania.  Id.  When confronted with the Reuters 

reporting, Philip Morris admitted it had violated its own policies and, in response, supposedly 

suspended its global social media marketing campaign.  Id.  But around this same time, in 

May 2019, Philip Morris promoted IQOS as a sponsor of Tel Aviv University’s Student Day, an 

activity the Stanford researchers called “clearly youth-oriented.”  CX-1412 at 8, 16.  And 

notwithstanding its promise to change its practices after the Reuters story broke, the record 

shows “youth appealing marketing [of IQOS] continues worldwide.”  Id. at 11. 

Ninety percent of traditional cigarette smokers start smoking before the age of 18. 

CX-1015 at RJRITC_001247128.  Youth who have never used tobacco products are more
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interested in trying IQOS than combustion cigarettes.  See CX-1265.  The risk to non-smoking 

youth presented by IQOS is real, and it is of concern to the FDA.  JX-0018 at 3.5   

5. Comments from members of the public do not support denial of a
remedy

As discussed in Order No. 39 issued on March 12, 2021, Philip Morris coordinated the 

filing of comments under the signatures of doctors and others when the Commission requested 

comments from the public in this investigation.  As described below, those comments are 

unreliable primarily because they are anecdotal and fail to account for the scientific evidence 

evaluated by the FDA.  They are also tainted by bias introduced by Philip Morris. 

At a public preliminary conference, I asked Philip Morris about the relationship between it 

and the signatories on certain public interest comments.  6/10/20 Tr. at 59:7–11.  Counsel for Philip 

Morris responded that “there is not that high level of coordination that I believe the Court assumes” 

and that Philip Morris was “just trying to facilitate the mechanics of filing” the public interest 

statements as “an administrative courtesy.”  6/10/20 Tr. at 59:7–23, 62:6–10.  As would become 

clear during the investigation, that statement from Philip Morris’s counsel was not true.  The record 

contains evidence that Philip Morris employees exchanged many emails, drafts, and edits with 

persons who submitted public interest comments in this investigation.  See CX-2054.  Philip 

Morris also provided direct and in-kind contributions to many of the commenters.  That evidence 

is reviewed below. 

5 Philip Morris submitted research studies evaluating the potential for uptake of IQOS among every 
age demographic except youth.  JX-0034 at 65.  This omission caused some concern in the FDA 
review process.  Id. 
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a) Dr. Gunther

Dr. Julie Gunther practices medicine at a clinic called SparkMD in Boise, Idaho.  In early 2019, 

a lobbyist named Jay Keese told Dr. Gunther that the IQOS heat-not-burn products at issue in 

this litigation might help patients overcome addiction to smoking combustion cigarettes.  Hrg. 

Tr. 1208:15-1209:13.  Mr. Keese told Dr. Gunther that Philip Morris was inviting physicians and 

others to learn more about the IQOS product on a five-day, all-expenses-paid trip to Philip Morris 

facilities in Switzerland and Italy.  Hrg. Tr. 1209:14–1210:1; 1216:18–1217:1; 1218:10–

17. Dr. Gunther told Mr. Keese she was intrigued.  Hrg. Tr. 1209:16-17.

From the beginning, Dr. Gunther suspected something was going to be asked of her 

in exchange for the trip.  Hrg. Tr. 1209:16-17.  When she inquired about the quid pro quo, she 

was told that after learning about IQOS on the trip she would be asked to give her “forthright 

opinion about what a clinician who takes care of her people thinks about this product.”  

Hrg. Tr. 1209:23–1210:9.  Dr. Gunther accepted the offer.  Id. 

Dr. Gunther was then contacted by William Muller, a representative of Phillip Morris.  Hrg. 

Tr. 1214:20–1215:1.  Mr. Muller coordinated Dr. Gunther’s travel to Europe, a trip that occurred 

in April of 2019.  Hrg. Tr. 1214:20–1215:1, 1233:16–17.  The five-day trip involved a couple of 

hours talking about tobacco harm reduction.  JX-0099C at 284:1–13.  The tour participants did not 

see much on the facilities tour, “just looking into the windows” at the facility.  JX-0099C 

at 284:14–21.  And not everything on the trip was related to learning about IQOS.  When 

Philip Morris gave Dr. Gunther the choice of visiting a Philip Morris factory in Bologna or a 

Ferrari factory in the same city, she chose to visit the Ferrari factory.  Hrg. Tr. 1218:10–19. 

Mr. Muller then asked Dr. Gunther to write an article for a publication called RealClear 

Health.  Hrg. Tr. 1215:9-15.  He provided a suggested draft of the article to Dr. Gunther.  Hrg. Tr. 
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1215:16–1217:17, 1234:20–1235:3.  Dr. Gunther testified that she thought the suggested 

draft “was garbage” but an article under Dr. Gunther’s name was published in RealClear Health 

in July 2019.  Hrg. Tr. 1223:21–23, 1236:8–17; CX-1944C. 

During her April 2019 trip to Europe, Dr. Gunther met Ondrej Koumal, director 

of communications and engagement at Philip Morris.  Hrg. Tr. 300:5–24; 1218:4–9; 1227:15–

17. Later in 2019, Mr. Koumal invited Dr. Gunther to travel from Boise on an all-expenses-

paid trip to a Formula One race in Austin, Texas, on Halloween weekend.  JX-0099C at 292:7–

293:1; Hrg. Tr. 1223:18–20.  She sat in a sponsored box during the race at the invitation of Philip 

Morris.  Hrg. Tr. 1220:12–16.  She was also invited to a concert and to hear motivational 

speakers during her trip to Austin.  Hrg. Tr. 1220:17–19.  Dr. Gunther remembers interacting 

with Mr. Koumal during the trip and after.  Hrg. Tr. 1227:18–1228:2. 

In April 2020, Philip Morris reached out to Dr. Gunther again, this time through 

Mr. Koumal, and asked her to make a public interest statement in this investigation.  JX-0067; 

Hrg. Tr. 1223:24–1224:2; 1227:4–8.  Mr. Koumal sent Dr. Gunther a draft comment for the 

Commission based on the article published under her name in RealClear Health.  JX-0067.  

Dr. Gunther testified at her deposition that she knew that the draft was “what they prefer is 

said” about IQOS.  Hrg. Tr. 1230:6–1231:3.  Dr. Gunther emailed Mr. Koumal back an edited 

version of the draft, and Mr. Koumal responded that he would send her HeatSticks for her 

father’s IQOS device when they became available.  CX-1942C.  Some of the wording in the 

public interest comments Philip Morris ultimately filed on behalf of Dr. Gunther is different 

than the draft it sent her, but the overall message is the same.  A comparison of a few passages 

demonstrates this point, with differing language emphasized: 
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harm” (JX-0034 at 44); (2) studies showing prevalent dual use of IQOS and combustion 

cigarettes “do not provide strong support for the potential benefit to the population as a 

whole” (id. at 60); and (3) IQOS presents the same risk of addiction to non-smokers as 

combustion cigarettes, “thereby providing no support for a general claim about reduced risk 

of harm” (id. at 41).  Her comments about her own patients are anecdotal, in contrast to the 

extensive scientific studies about IQOS reviewed by the FDA.  For at least these reasons, I 

give Dr. Gunther’s public interest comments little weight.   

Additionally, the record demonstrates that Dr. Gunther’s comments may have been 

influenced by bias.  She has accepted travel gifts and attorney services from Philip Morris 

valued in the many thousands of dollars.  I discount the weight of her comments for this additional 

reason. 

b) Dr. Nikan Khatibi

The Commission also received public comments on relief in this investigation from another 

physician, Dr. Nikan Khatibi, who, like Dr. Gunther, took Philip Morris up on its offer of paid 

trips to Europe and to the Formula One race in Austin.  JX-0099C at 281:6-12; Hrg. Tr. 307:7-21.  

Philip Morris sent Dr. Khatibi a draft statement for submission to the Commission.  Hrg. Tr. 

302:3-6; CX-0787.  As discussed in Order No. 39, attorneys paid by Philip Morris filed a statement 

under Dr. Khatibi’s signature with the Commission.  The submission to the Commission with 

Dr. Khatibi’s signature is identical, word-for-word, with the draft Philip Morris emailed him. 

Compare CX-0787 with EDIS Doc. ID 708979. 

I find Dr. Khatibi’s public interest comments to lack credibility.  The weight of the 

evidence surrounding the submission raises serious doubts as to whether Dr. Khatibi has personal 

knowledge of the matters asserted therein.  Additionally, like Dr. Gunther, there is no evidence 
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that Dr. Khatibi personally considered the FDA findings about the potential harms of 

IQOS summarized above. 

c) Other Filers of Public Comments

The American Conservative Union, the American Vaping Association, Consumer 

Advocates for Smoke-free Alternatives Association (“CASAA”), the Progressive Policy Institute, 

and Nextera Healthcare also submitted public interest comments.  Like Dr. Gunther and 

Dr. Khatibi, the people who submitted public interest comments on behalf of these 

organizations took trips to Europe paid for by Philip Morris.  JX-0099C at 279:17–282:2.   

The record shows Philip Morris wrote the original draft for the comments from CASAA. 

Id. at 176:9–177:21; 179:9–19.  Beyond the trip to Europe, 

  Id. at 242:12–16. 

The record further contains comments from the Reason Foundation.  Philip Morris paid 

for a representative from that group to attend the Formula One race in Austin, and 

  JX-0099C at 242:17–20, 294:10–20.  The 

Reason Foundation submitted comments after Philip Morris asked.  Id. at 77:15–22. 

The record also contains a submission from an organization called TechFreedom.  

EDIS Doc. ID 708988.  The record shows Philip Morris edited the statement submitted by 

TechFreedom and removed references to certain studies.  See, e.g., JX-0099C at 139:17–141:2.  

Philip Morris also discussed with TechFreedom how much publicity the TechFreedom 

submission should receive.  Id. at 147:3–148:9.   

The Smoke-Free Alternatives Trade Association (“SFATA”) also submitted public interest 

comments.  EDIS Doc. ID 708986.  The record indicates Philip Morris provided edits to SFATA’s 
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pathway for products like IQOS to come to U.S. market.  Id.  He points out that the FDA 

determined that IQOS is “appropriate for the protection of the public health because, 

among several key considerations, the products produce fewer or lower levels of some 

toxins than combustible cigarettes.”  Id.  Congressman Holding relies on a Philip Morris 

earnings report stating that IQOS has “conversion rates of approximately 71%.”  Id.  He 

also cites materials submitted to the FDA stating that IQOS outsells Marlboro in Japan.  Id.  

Congressman Holding also made economic arguments that I address below. 

With respect to public health and welfare, it is unclear whether Congressman Holding 

had the benefit of reviewing the full FDA findings relating to IQOS that are in the record 

of this investigation.  The FDA findings on conversion rates to IQOS contradict the 

statements from Philip Morris that Congressman Holding cites.  The FDA stated that “dual 

use with combusted cigarettes is the predominant pattern of IQOS use,” with only 5.8% of 

IQOS users in the United States completely switching from combustion cigarettes.  JX-0034 at 

60, 62.  The FDA reiterated that without “complete cessation of combusted cigarette 

smoking,” IQOS users will not experience a reduction in harm.  See, e.g., JX-0034 at 13 

(emphasis added).  The multiple studies considered by the FDA show prevalent dual use of 

IQOS and combustion cigarettes and “do not provide strong support for the potential benefit 

to the population as a whole.”  Id. at 60.  Additionally, the FDA concluded, after 

examining extensive data, that IQOS presents the same risk of addiction to non-smokers as 

combustion cigarettes, “thereby providing no support for a general claim about reduced risk of 

harm.”  Id. at 41.   

The limited data cited by Congressman Holding does not give the full picture of the harms 

and potential benefits presented by IQOS.  The FDA findings, on the other hand, give scientific 

consideration to all relevant materials of record.  I therefore give more weight to the FDA findings. 
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6. Combustion cigarette smokers have safer options than IQOS, and
those options have been proven effective in reducing harm

The record demonstrates that the number of smokers in the United States has been steadily 

declining for five decades, long before the introduction of IQOS to the U.S. market.  RX-0315.4.  

Clearly, IQOS is not the only path to reduced tobacco harm.  The record identifies safer ways than 

IQOS to help combustion cigarette smokers transition away from harmful cigarette smoke.  The 

Surgeon General issued a report describing “evidence-based strategies” for quitting smoking. 

RX-0315.5.  It includes five nicotine replacement therapies, such as patches, gum, and lozenges, 

that have been shown to be effective for helping adults quit smoking based on scientific evidence 

reviewed by the FDA.  RX-0315.15.  Two non-nicotine medications, varenicline and bupropion, 

have been found by the FDA to reduce cravings for nicotine and help smokers quit.  Id.  The 

Surgeon General also advises that combining medication and counseling “can more than double 

one’s chances of successfully quitting.”  RX-0315.14.  These scientifically validated interventions 

would remain available to all smokers if the IQOS products are excluded from the U.S. market, 

and none have the carcinogenic chemicals produced by IQOS. 

7. Public Health Conclusion

Based on the factual findings above, I have determined that the scientific evidence entered 

into the record of this investigation shows that excluding the IQOS products will not adversely 

affect the public health and welfare as a whole.  Other therapies to reduce tobacco use have been 

found by the FDA to be effective, and those alternatives do not cause harm by exposing users to 

carcinogens.  There is even reason to conclude that excluding the IQOS devices may have a 

positive effect in preventing youth from taking up tobacco use for the first time with the IQOS 

device.  The public health and welfare facts do not weigh against entry of a remedy. 
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B. The Production of Like Articles in the United States

Philip Morris argues that there is no IQOS substitute on the U.S. market because there is no 

other aerosolized tobacco product with the kind of FDA authorizations IQOS has received.  RIB at 

71. It also suggests that no other products provide nicotine delivery with the same efficiency,

taste, and sensory experience as IQOS.  RIB at 81–83. 

Philip Morris applies too stringent a test for like articles.  Section 337 directs 

the Commission to evaluate the continued availability of “like or directly competitive articles 

in the United States.”  See 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1).  Commission precedent supports 

consideration of other non-infringing alternatives in the market, even when those alternatives 

are not exactly the same as the accused products.  See, e.g., Certain Magnetic Data Storage 

Tapes and Cartridges Containing the Same (II), Inv. No. 337-TA-1076, Comm’n Op. at 66 

(June 20, 2019) (looking to the “total data storage market” and finding that the accused 

magnetic tape products “account for only a small share of the total data storage market and 

continue to face steep competition from hard disk drives and memory technologies”); 

Certain Magnetic Data Storage Tapes and Cartridges Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-

TA-1012, Comm’n Op. at 143–44 (Apr. 2, 2018) (stating that “while Sony insists the relevant 

market should be narrowed to LTO-7 tapes, its own witness admitted that all storage media 

directly compete with Sony’s LTO-7 tapes,” including optical media and hard disk drives). 

The tobacco companies feuding in this investigation, and others, have ensured there is no 

shortage of like tobacco products delivering nicotine to U.S. consumers.  For example, 

Reynolds’s VUSE heat-not-burn product is available on the U.S. market, as described in my 

domestic industry findings.  Reynolds’s Eclipse product also remains on the market.  Hrg. Tr. 

65:6–15.  Additional Eclipse products are the subject of FDA marketing orders.  Hrg. Tr. 

66:6–12, 467:23–468:22, 
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1437:5–11, 1438:6–20.  Philip Morris’s expert on the regulation of products under the FDA’s 

jurisdiction, Ms. Ehrlich, testified that the “FDA has never taken the position that there are 

not other substitutes for IQOS.”  Hrg. Tr. 1442:20–25. 

In the smokeless tobacco category, Philip Morris sells a broad range of products under the 

Skoal® and Copenhagen® brand names.  Dr. Murrelle testified that Kodiak and Grizzly are 

additional examples of available smokeless tobacco products, and that the Skoal, 

Copenhagen, Kodiak, and Grizzly products all currently have FDA authorization to remain on 

the market.  Hrg. Tr. 505:13–506:10; CDX-0005.15.  In the snus category, Swedish Match 

obtained similar marketing authorization from FDA as was provided for IQOS, allowing its 

General Snus products to be marketed as reduced risk.  CX-1280 at 1.  Dr. Murrelle testified that 

Copenhagen Snus is also available in this category.  Hrg. Tr. 506:11–20; CDX-0005.15.  

In the oral tobacco products category, Dr. Murrelle identified Velo, ZYN, and on! 

as examples of available products.  Hrg. Tr. 504:21–505:12; CDX-0005.15.   

Numerous nicotine replacement therapies are also marketed in the United States, including 

Commit, Nicorette, and NicoDerm.  Hrg. Tr. 504:13–20; CDX-0005.15.  Dr. Murrelle 

testified that each of the Commit, Nicorette, and NicoDerm products are FDA-approved smoking 

cessation products.  Id.   

Reynolds’s expert Dr. Murrelle testified that thousands of e-cigarette or vaping options 

are currently available in the United States for smokers looking for an alternative to 

combustion cigarettes.  Hrg. Tr. 454:8–12, 458:4–459:3.  Dr. Murrelle identified Juul, Blu, 

and Naked as examples.  Hrg. Tr. 503:14–504:5; CDX-0005.15.  Philip Morris’s expert Dr. 

Rodu also testified that, just considering e-cigarettes, “[t]here are thousands of choices.”  

CX-0528.2.  Dr. Rodu further testified that e-cigarettes have proven to be more successful at

transitioning smokers off of 
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combustion cigarettes than IQOS.  Hrg. Tr. 1300:21–1301:7.  Dr. Rodu came to this opinion about 

e-cigarettes after he submitted a lengthy paper in 2017 evaluating IQOS.  JX-0026; Hrg. Tr. 

1293:7–1294:15.  He was thus well-aware of IQOS when he declared e-cigarettes to be the “best” 

and “most popular—and most successful—quit smoking aids.”  CX-0528.2.  Philip Morris 

admitted that its products are properly classified under subheadings 8543.70.9930 and 

8543.90.8850 of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States, which are classifications 

for vaping articles.  See Philip Morris Resp. to Compl. ¶ 111 (EDIS Doc. ID 717980); Response 

of Respondents Philip Morris International Inc. and Philip Morris Products S.A. to the Amended 

Complaint and Notice of Investigation ¶ 111 (EDIS Doc. ID 717975) (Aug. 24, 2020).  Thus, 

Philip Morris has effectively conceded that the thousands of e-cigarettes and vaping devices on 

the U.S. market are like products to the IQOS in the trade context.   

Philip Morris argues that the FDA has not authorized the sale of e-cigarettes and therefore 

they are “illegal” and cannot be considered like products to the IQOS.  See RIB at 71, 75–77.  But 

Philip Morris cites no authority supporting the proposition that the regulatory status of an article 

can preclude it from being a like article.  I conclude, and no party disputes, that the FDA has 

jurisdiction over the regulation of e-cigarettes and vaping products.  See 81 Fed. Reg. 28973 

(May 10, 2016) (“The Deeming Rule”).  I therefore decline to make a determination on the legality 

of e-cigarettes in the context of this investigation.  See Amarin Pharma, Inc. v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 

923 F.3d 959, 965 (Fed. Cir. 2019) (affirming the Commission’s restraint when the FDA “has not 

yet provided guidance” on an issue within the FDA’s authority).  For the purposes of weighing 

this public interest factor, it is sufficient to find that thousands of e-cigarettes and vaping products 

remain on the market in the United States without the FDA taking enforcement action against 

them.  They are like products to the IQOS. 
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Finally, Philip Morris’s witness, Pierpaolo Magnani, who is Global Head of Behavioral 

and Regulatory Insights, Philip Morris Products SA, admitted the breath of the market of like 

products in the United States:  “[T]here are e-cigarettes, there are oral tobacco cigarettes, heated 

tobacco products, which is only an advantage if you think from a harm reduction perspective.  It 

means that, you know, those 37 million adult smokers, they have more alternatives in front of 

them, and they can choose one of the many alternatives.”  JX-0093C at 195:23–196:12. 

In sum, the effect of an exclusion order or cease and desist order will not dimmish the 

production of like articles in the United States.  This factor does not weigh against entry of a 

remedy. 

C. Competitive Conditions in the United States Economy

The private parties and Staff submitted no evidence specifically directed to competitive 

conditions in the United States economy.   

A submission from Congressman George Holding stated that the exclusion of IQOS 

threatens American agriculture and jobs.  EDIS Doc. ID 709114.  He submits that tobacco growers 

rely on products like IQOS to support their families and communities, especially as the new 

industry evolves.  Id.  Congressman Holding urged the Commission to carefully evaluate the 

economic implications of an exclusion order in North Carolina.  Id.   

The record indicates that there are currently  IQOS users in the United 

States, and .  CPX-0235C; 

CX-0127C; JX-0094C at 106:24–107:4; JX-0034 at 60, 62.  Thus, even if the IQOS devices were 

excluded, most IQOS users would continue to smoke tobacco grown in North Carolina and 

elsewhere.  In addition to IQOS users, there are 34 million combustion smokers of tobacco. 

RX-0315.2.  The demand for tobacco in North Carolina from those smokers will remain high even 

122 
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if an exclusion order is entered.  I do not find that this factor weighs against entry of an 

exclusion order. 

D. United States Customers

As noted above, IQOS adoption is not widespread among U.S. consumers, with currently  

.  CPX-0235C; CX-0127C; JX-0094C at 106:24–107:4.  As compared to the 

population as a whole, or even the population of 34 million smokers specifically, the effect of a 

remedy in this investigation on consumers would be minimal.  For the small number of affected 

IQOS consumers, there are thousands of other tobacco choices and cessation products available.  

Hrg. Tr.  459:4–16.  Moreover, as noted above, there may be health and economic benefits to U.S. 

consumers if IQOS is excluded, particularly if young people targeted by Philip Morris have no 

access to IQOS to begin a harmful tobacco addiction that will be costly to them and to society 

as a whole. 

The effect of a remedy on U.S. consumers does not weigh against entry of a remedy. 

E. Public Interest Conclusion

In sum, the public interest evidence of record does not weigh against entry of a remedy. 

XI. RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND

The Commission’s Rules provide that the administrative law judge shall issue a

recommended determination concerning the appropriate remedy in the event that the Commission 

finds a violation of section 337, and the amount of bond to be posted by respondents during 

Presidential review of the Commission action under section 337(j).  See 19 C.F.R. 

§ 210.42(a)(l)(ii).
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A. Limited Exclusion Order

The Commission has broad discretion in selecting the form, scope, and extent of the 

remedy in a section 337 proceeding.  Viscofan, S.A. v. U.S. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 787 F.2d 544, 

548 (Fed. Cir. 1986).  A limited exclusion order directed to a respondent’s infringing products is 

among the remedies that the Commission may impose.  See 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d).   

Reynolds contends it is “entitled to a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to 

19 U.S.C. § 1337(d), barring from entry into the U.S. any Accused Products that infringe one or 

more of the Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents.”  CIB at 101.  Although Philip Morris does 

not dispute that a limited exclusion order would be an appropriate remedy for a violation of 

section 337, see RIB at 87–92, it argues that any remedial order “should include an exemption for 

service, warranty, repair, or replacement of any products sold before the issuance of any exclusion 

order” and “should contain the standard provision.”  RIB at 87–89.  Staff takes the position that 

“an exception to any limited exclusion order for service, warranty, repair, and replacement 

products, but not for non-commercial consumption, is appropriate” because the record evidence 

shows that Philip Morris’s IQOS products are subject to contractual warranty and repair 

obligations.  SIB at 139 (citing CX-0450 (IQOS User Guide) at 17 (outlining “IQOS Limited 

Warranty” and directing users where and how to make a warranty claim under that warranty)).   

Staff also “believes that a standard certification provision is appropriate, particularly if the 

exclusion order includes the requested service, warranty, repair, and replacement products 

exception.”  SIB at 139 (citing Certain Digital Televisions & Certain Prods. Containing Same & 

Methods of Using Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-617, Comm’n Op. at 11–12 (Apr. 23, 2009)).  Staff 

asserts that “the Commission now generally includes a certification provision in every exclusion 

order because it is something that ‘[U.S. Customs and Border Protection] typically requests.’”  Id. 
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(citing Certain Road Construction Machines & Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-

TA-1088, Comm’n Op. at 50 (July 15, 2019); Certain Composite Aerogel Insulation Materials 

and Methods for Manufacturing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-1003, Comm’n Op. at 62 

(Feb. 22, 2018) (explaining that complainant’s request to depart from standard 

certification provision was “contrary to the Commission’s standard practice for the past several 

years to include certification provisions in exclusion orders to aid [U.S. Customs and Border 

Protection]”)).  Philip Morris agrees that any limited exclusion order “should contain the 

standard provision allowing Respondents to certify, pursuant to procedures to be specified 

by U.S. Customs and Border Protection, that it is familiar with the terms of the order, that it 

has made appropriate inquiry, and that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, the products 

being imported are not excluded from entry under the order.”  RIB at 89.  Reynolds, on the 

other hand, argues that 
No certification procedure is needed in this Investigation because a visual 
inspection of the Accused Products by Customs would readily resolve 
whether they should be excluded based on the product packaging that 
identifies the model of the device.  There are no non-infringing models of 
the Accused Products authorized for sale in the United States.  Also, due to 
FDA regulations, Respondents are unable to modify the Accused Products 
to avoid infringement while still retaining their authorization to market the 
products in the U.S. 

CIB at 103.6  

If the Commission determines that a violation of section 337 has occurred and if 

consideration of the statutory public interest factors does not require that remedies be set aside or 

modified, I recommend that the Commission issue a limited exclusion order barring entry of 

6 In its responsive post-hearing brief, Philip Morris asserts for the first time contentions as to why 
HeatSticks should not be included within the scope of remedial orders.  RRB at 84–86.  These 
contentions were not presented in Philip Morris’s pre-hearing brief and are therefore waived.  See 
Order No. 8 at Ground Rule 11.2. 
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products that infringe the Asserted Patents.  I do not recommend a warranty and repair exception 

to the limited exclusion order.  Such exceptions may be made if a respondent establishes that its 

customers expect or require exact replacement parts or will be detrimentally affected by using non-

infringing alternatives.  Certain Optoelectronic Devices for Fiber Optic Commc’ns, Components 

Thereof, & Prods. Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-860, Comm’n Op. at 31–33 (Apr. 17, 

2014).  Here, Philip Morris has not provided any such evidence from its customers or 

demonstrated that a repair industry exists in the United States.  See Certain Magnetic Data 

Storage and Tapes and Cartridges Containing the Same (II), Inv. No. 337-TA-1076, Initial 

Determination at 174, aff’d, Comm’n Op. at 61–62 (denying exception because respondent 

failed to provide sufficient evidence).   

I also do not recommend the inclusion of a certification provision in the limited 

exclusion order.  A certification procedure is used when U.S. Customs and Border Protection 

may not be able to identify infringing goods through a visual inspection.  Here, however, such a 

procedure is not warranted because the adjudicated models of IQOS infringe without exception.  

U.S. Customs and Border Production would be able to identify what products should be 

excluded by a simply visual inspection.   

B. Cease and Desist Order

Section 337 provides that in addition to, or in lieu of, the issuance of an exclusion order, the 

Commission may issue a cease and desist order as a remedy for a violation of section 337. 19 

U.S.C. § 1337(f)(1).  The Commission may issue a cease and desist order when it has personal 

jurisdiction over the party against whom the order is directed.  Gamut Trading Co. v. U.S. 

Int’l Trade Comm’n, 200 F.3d 775, 784 (Fed. Cir. 1999). 
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Under Commission precedent, “[c]ease and desist orders are generally issued when, with 

respect to the imported infringing products, respondents maintain commercially significant 

inventories in the United States or have significant domestic operations that could undercut the 

remedy provided by an exclusion order.”  Certain Air Mattress Systems, Components Thereof, and 

Methods of Using the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-971, Comm’n Op. at 49 (May 17, 2017) (citations 

and footnote omitted).    

Reynolds argues it is entitled to cease and desist orders “directed to Respondents in view 

of the commercially significant inventories of Accused Products that Respondents have 

stipulated they hold in the U.S.”  CIB at 101 (citing Stip. ¶¶ 119–29).  Although Philip 

Morris does not dispute that a cease and desist order would be an appropriate remedy if the 

Commission found a violation of section 337, it argues that cease and desist orders should not 

issue as to respondents Altria Client Services LLC or Philip Morris Products S.A. because 

those entities “do not keep, store, hold, warehouse, maintain, or control a commercially 

significant inventory of the Accused Products in the U.S.”  RRB at 86-88.  See RIB at 87–92; 

RRB at 86–88.  Staff takes the position that cease and desist orders directed to all Philip Morris 

entities are appropriate.  SIB at 140.   

Philip Morris has stipulated that as of at least August 31, 2020, Altria Group Distribution 

Company, , and Philip 

Morris USA all keep, hold, warehouse, or maintain within the United States certain products for 

and on behalf of Philip Morris USA as identified in exhibits CX-0321C and CX-322C, i.e., the 

Accused Products.  Stip. ¶¶ 119–24.  Philip Morris has further stipulated that Philip Morris USA 

maintains control over the inventories of these Accused Products that are kept, stored, held, 

warehoused, maintained, or controlled for and on behalf of Philip Morris USA.  Id. ¶ 125.  

Moreover, Philip Morris has stipulated that these physical locations where Philip Morris USA 



128 

PUBLIC VERSION

keeps, stores, holds, warehouses, maintains, or controls inventories of the Accused Products 

constitute a “commercially significant inventory” of the Accused Products as identified in exhibits 

CX-0321C and CX-322C.  Id. ¶¶ 124, 126.  I find, based on these undisputed facts, that Philip 

Morris has a commercially significant domestic inventory of products that infringe the Asserted 

Patents. 

I next consider whether the mere existence of commercially significant domestic 

inventories automatically entitles Reynolds to cease and desist orders against Philip Morris.  This 

was up for some debate in Certain Dental Implants, Inv. No. 337-TA-934, USITC Pub. No. 4905 

(June 1, 2019), where the Commission was divided on the issue.  However, the Commission has 

now settled the point and clarified that a complainant has an affirmative burden to show that a 

cease and desist order “is necessary to address the violation found in the investigation.”  Certain 

Air Mattress Systems, Comm’n Op. at 49–50 (emphasis added).   

Reynolds’s scant briefing failed to show that cease and desist orders are necessary to 

prevent Philip Morris from undercutting the remedy provided by a limited exclusion order.  On 

the facts of this record, it is my recommendation that no cease and desist orders issue if the 

Commission determines that a violation of section 337 has occurred and if consideration of the 

statutory public interest factors does not require that remedies be set aside or modified.  

C. Bond During Presidential Review

Pursuant to section 337(j)(3), the administrative law judge and the Commission must 

determine the amount of bond to be required of a respondent, during the 60-day Presidential review 

period following the issuance of permanent relief, in the event that the Commission determines to 

issue a remedy.  The purpose of the bond is to protect the complainant from any injury.  19 U.S.C. 

§ 1337(j)(3); 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.42(a)(1)(ii), 210.50(a)(3).
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When reliable price information is available, the Commission has often set the bond 

by eliminating the differential in sales prices between the domestic product and the 

imported, infringing product.  Certain Microsphere Adhesives, Process for Making Same, 

and Products Containing Same, Including Self-Stick Repositionable Notes, Inv. No. 337-

TA-366, Comm’n Op. at 24, USITC Pub. No. 2949 (1995).  In other cases, the Commission 

has turned to alternative approaches, especially when the level of a reasonable royalty rate 

could be ascertained.  See Certain Integrated Circuit Telecommunication Chips and Products 

Containing Same, Including Dialing Apparatus, Inv. No. 337-TA-337, Comm’n Op. at 41–43, 

USITC Pub. No. 2670 (1995). A 100% bond has been required when no effective alternative 

existed.  Certain Flash Memory Circuits and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-

TA-382, USITC Pub. No. 3046, Comm’n Op. at 26–27 (July 1997) (a 100% bond imposed when 

price comparison was not practical because the parties sold products at different levels of 

commerce, and the proposed royalty rate appeared to be de minimis and without adequate 

support in the record). 

With respect to bond, Reynolds argues that a bond of 100% is appropriate.  See CIB at 

103–04.  Reynolds argues that a direct comparison of product pricing in this investigation is not 

meaningful here and fails to take into account that one VUSE Solo cartridge provides more than 

ten times the number of puffs as one accused HeatStick.  Id.  Reynolds’s expert Dr. Mody testified 

that evaluating pricing on a “per-puff basis” is more appropriate under the circumstances of this 

investigation than a straight comparison of retail pricing and concluded that a 100% bond would 

be appropriate under a per-puff-basis analysis.  See id.   

As an initial matter, Reynolds has not demonstrated that a bond is needed to protect its 

domestic industry from unfair importation during the Presidential review period in the event the 

Commission finds a violation of section 337 and imposes a remedy.  See Certain Mobile 
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no evidence that the relevant market moves on a “per-puff basis” making a bond set on those terms 

necessary “to protect the complainant from any injury.”  See 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)(3). 

Therefore, because Reynolds has failed to demonstrate the necessity of a bond, and because 

a price differential analysis shows that the Accused Products are not imported or sold at prices that 

would undercut Reynolds’s VUSE products, it is my recommendation that the Commission, in 

the event it finds a violation of section 337 has occurred, set a 0% bond for any 

importations of infringing products during the Presidential review period.   

XII. INITIAL DETERMINATION ON VIOLATION

For the reasons set forth above, it is my initial determination that a violation of section 337

of the Tariff Act, as amended, has occurred in the importation into the United States, the sale for 

importation, or the sale within the United States after importation, of certain tobacco heating 

articles and components thereof based on infringement of U.S. Patent No. 9,901,123 and U.S. 

Patent No. 9,930,915. 

I hereby certify to the Commission this Initial Determination and the Recommended 

Determination. 

The Secretary shall serve the confidential version of this Initial Determination upon 

counsel who are signatories to the Protective Order (Order No. 1) issued in this investigation.  A 

public version will be served at a later date upon all parties of record. 

Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.42(h), this Initial Determination shall become the 

determination of the Commission unless a party files a petition for review pursuant to 19 C.F.R. 

§ 210.43(a) or the Commission, pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.44, orders on its own motion a review

of the Initial Determination or certain issues therein. 
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XIII. ORDER

Within seven days of the date of this document, the parties shall jointly submit a single

proposed public version with any proposed redactions indicated in red.  If the parties submit 

excessive redactions, they may be required to provide declarations from individuals with personal 

knowledge, justifying each proposed redaction and specifically explaining why the information 

sought to be redacted meets the definition for confidential business information set forth in 

19 C.F.R. § 201.6(a).  To the extent possible, the proposed redactions should be made 

electronically, in a single PDF file using the “Redact Tool” within Adobe Acrobat.  The proposed 

redactions should be submitted as “marked” but not yet “applied.”  The proposed redactions should 

be submitted via email to Cheney337@usitc.gov and not filed on EDIS. 

SO ORDERED. 
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